PROJECT LABOR AGREEMENTS (PLAs) AND TRIPARTITE APPROACH MODEL FOR CONSTRUCTION PROJECT MANAGEMENT SUCCESS

INDEPENDENT APPLIED RESEARCH CONDUCTED BY RONDA SAUGET, D. MGT, MBA WEBSTER UNIVERSITY MARV FINKELSTEIN, Ph.D. SOUTHERN ILLINOIS UNIVERSITY EDWARDSVILLE







FEBRUARY 2015 SOUTHWESTERN ILLINOIS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Executive Summary | 3 |
|---|----|
| Research Introduction | 4 |
| Methodology | 4 |
| History of SWIL Labor Management Relations | 5 |
| SWIL Labor Management Committee | 5 |
| Project Labor Agreements (PLA) | 6 |
| Labor Management Theories/Research | 6 |
| Levels of Cooperation | 7 |
| Strategic | 7 |
| Collective Bargaining | 7 |
| Worksite | 8 |
| Trust | 8 |
| Tripartite Agreement/Approach | 9 |
| PLA and Tripartite Challenge | 9 |
| Project Characteristics and Research Findings | 10 |
| Challenges | 11 |
| Key Highlights of PLAs and Tripartite Agreement/Approach Research | 12 |
| Trust, Teamwork, Positive Work Environment, Problem Solving, | |
| and Open Communications | 12 |
| Focus on Safety and Consistent Training | 16 |
| Conclusion | 19 |
| Recommendations and Next Steps | 20 |

BUSINESS CASE STUDY RESEARCH ATTACHMENTS

- 1. Prairie State Generating Campus
- 2. Phillips 66 Refinery
- 3. Abengoa BioEnergy Company Ethanol Plant
- 4. Edwardsville School District
- 5. SIUE Success Center
- 6. West Washington School District

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In the spring of 2014, The Labor Management Committee (LMC) of the Leadership Council Southwestern Illinois began a process of reviewing and assessing its most recent efforts to promote labor management cooperation and collaboration in the region. Moreover, the LMC wished to address several questions and challenges raised about the effectiveness of these efforts, especially in the use of Project Labor Agreements (PLAs) and Tripartite strategic arrangements in the construction industry. To accomplish this task, an independent applied research study was undertaken which would deepen the understanding of labor management cooperation and collaboration in the area, provide a detailed account of these cooperative efforts and address questions about the effectiveness of this process.

Thus, the purpose of this study has been twofold: 1) to provide a framework for understanding the historical context of labor management cooperation and collaboration in Southwestern Illinois and 2) to empirically document six business cases in the construction industry over the past decade which focus on PLAs and the Tripartite approach/model.

The following points summarize some of the major findings and conclusions of this study:

- All six cases reported highly positive results and mutual benefits from engaging in cooperative labor management agreements and practices for the stakeholder groups - owners, contractors, and labor.
- The use of PLAs and related Tripartite arrangements resulted in significant cost savings, improved quality, greater productivity, and higher levels of safety.
- There was no evidence to suggest that PLAs contribute to higher costs and reduced competition. To the contrary, successful PLAs tend to produce both short-term and long term cost savings. Results indicated all six projects were completed on-time and within budget.
- Cooperative agreements, such as PLAs and the Tripartite model, can increase communication, trust, respect, and collaboration among all parties, and encourage swift problems solving, innovation, and flexibility.
- Positive results may be attributed to an informed and committed labor management leadership who
 were able to successfully resist an adversarial past to learn, create, and maintain strong cooperative
 relationships.
- Future success of the construction industry in Southwestern Illinois may well hinge on workforce and leadership awareness of cooperative and collaboration agreements and practices. Without increasing workforce and leadership education, training, and support there is a strong likelihood that these efforts will fail.

The conclusions of the study may not be generalized beyond this Southwestern Illinois because of its unique history and local conditions. However there is little doubt that these practices could be replicated elsewhere, leading to the same positive results of completing projects on-time and within budget with excellent safety records.

RESEARCH INTRODUCTION

In 2013, the SWIL Labor Management Committee (LMC) celebrated 30 years of advancing labor management cooperation in Southern Illinois. Perhaps its greatest successes can be found in dozens of the region's most prominent construction projects. It is from this sense of achievement that the LMC desired to highlight several of the area's top projects ranging from large to small investments as well as a wide variety of construction projects from building industrial plants to our local community schools. Over the past 30 years, the LMC strongly believes the skills, knowledge, and abilities of its members have contributed in creating a work environment that benefits key stakeholders. On hundreds of projects, labor management cooperation and collaboration has improved safety, quality, productivity, and kept projects on an acceptable timeline and within budget primarily through use of Project Labor Agreements (PLAs) and a Tripartite Agreement/Approach.

To document this progress, independent researchers Ronda Sauget, D. Mgt, MBA, Webster University and Marv Finkelstein, Ph.D., SIUE volunteered to build six case studies of the projects in an effort to highlight the value that strong labor management cooperation and collaboration has had in advancing the region's ability to attract billions of dollars in business and community investments. The construction project management model that is presented here is the result of years of development and refinement and is unique in the U.S. It demonstrates the LMC's commitment to labor management cooperation and its effort to overcome difficult challenges.

With billions of dollars of investments and millions of site work hours completed by skilled labor, several of the six highlighted projects, Prairie State Generating Campus and Phillips 66 Refinery Expansion, represent two of North America's largest projects. The projects highlighted in this research reflect national and local contractors use of Project Labor Agreement (PLAs) along with a Tripartite Agreement/Approach in working together and building trust through open and honest communications during monthly project meetings involving contractors, owners, and labor at the table. This model clearly demonstrates that the adversarial tradition rooted in the past does not work well in today's collaborative construction environment.

METHODOLOGY

A case study design was adopted for this research to gain "best forward thinking" in applied practical outcomes for this study. A qualitative interview approach was used as the primary source of data. Other public sources included trade journals, newspaper accounts, company and union publications, and public documents served as a source of common knowledge verification. The case study format has the advantage of drawing on several sources of information in order to provide a broad and vivid picture of the context of the construction process for the six individual construction projects profiled in this study. Since each project has unique characteristics, qualitative case study methodology was able to capture these important differences and qualities through open, honest discussions with key stakeholders willing to participate in this study.

There was an effort to select a variety of projects large and small, and private and public projects that had been completed in the last 10 years and who also had a willingness to participate in this study. Specifically, projects were selected which involved Project Labor Agreements and/or Tripartite arrangements/approach of some kind. Since two of North America's largest projects were completed in

this region during this timeframe, these two projects were included to gain a mega-project experience with multi-billion dollar construction investments. Permission and access to study projects was established before any data was collected.

Interview questions were developed in joint consultation with LMC labor and management representatives. Twenty-four in-depth interviews were conducted with labor and management officials involved in each construction project at their professional locations and/or by telephone with follow-up via emails. Responses were recorded and crosschecked with existing data. Follow-up questions were pursued to ensure accuracy. Interviews of those who have actual on-site experience and involvement in the research setting and in the ongoing development of respective projects provided meaningful and substantive data.

Each case study was constructed based on the intersection of all sources of data and were subject to review and approval by the study respondents directly. Feedback was used to ensure accuracy and clarity of presentation. In some cases, respondents also provided company logos and all case study stakeholders provided construction photos to be used in this study layout and design format.

HISTORY OF LABOR AND MANAGEMENT RELATIONS OVER THE PAST 30 YEARS IN SOUTHWESTERN ILLINOIS

THE SWIL LABOR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The SWIL Labor Management Committee is one of the oldest labor management committees in the United States. It was created in 1983 bearing the legacy of adversarial and contentious relations which had plagued the region for decades. The rise of international competition and the emergence of the global economy meant that American industry could no longer afford the luxury of in-fighting and antagonistic labor management relations. There was a recognition that if the negative perceptions and old ways of doing things didn't change, more plants and longstanding businesses would close, and the regional economy would suffer greatly well into the future. Thus, the purpose of the LMC from the outset was to foster labor management cooperation to help spur economic growth in Southern Illinois.

The LMC is a voluntary group of labor-management representatives who meet regularly, create crucial lines of communication, share information, and engage in activities that promote awareness, respect, and trust. It has focused on issues of common interest: workforce training and preparedness, safety, quality, and cost effectiveness. The committee is dedicated to the proposition that when labor and management work together to accomplish mutually beneficial goals, there is a more positive and constructive atmosphere in which the regional economy is more likely to thrive. Over the years, the committee has worked to advance major projects in Southern Illinois, such as the Mississippi River Bridge, Scott Air Force Base growth, and retention, Conoco-Phillips (Phillips 66)

refinery complex, and the new Prairie State Energy Campus. Thus, a growing culture of labor management cooperation has helped to change the persistent legacy of adversarial relations in the region. There is, however, widespread recognition that the region has more work ahead to create a new era of cooperation.

PROJECT LABOR AGREEMENTS

In order to promote labor management cooperation, one of the LMC's top priorities is to secure Project Labor Agreements wherever appropriate. Though contentious in some places, these agreements can be effective mechanisms for promoting a high level of labor management cooperation and at the same time, result in successful construction projects that can benefit the community.

Project Labor Agreements first came into existence in the U.S. in the 1930s in order to bring greater stability and predictability to major construction projects. This was especially true as the nation sought to quickly prepare for World War II. Typically PLA's create a jointly prepared preplanned framework for labor and management that specify the terms and conditions of work for a particular project. Rather than depend on a haphazard approach to the way an array of contractors, subcontractors and unions come together to work on a complex project, PLA's are meant to provide pre-job planning that can help to improve a project's organization and its operations. The PLA framework includes traditional collective bargaining obligations, but it augments and supersedes all other agreements between contractors and unions. PLA's set wage rates, benefits, grievance handling, and other provisions which both union and non-union employees and construction companies are required to abide by if they are to participate. In addition, all hiring is done

through the union halls. Strikes, work stoppages, job actions, or lockouts of any kind are prohibited.

Since the construction industry is unique in that many companies and unions may be brought together to work on a specific project on a temporary basis, the PLA is intended to reduce complexity and confusion, improve efficiency, and set uniform standards for safety, quality, productivity, and cost effectiveness.

Challenges to the use of PLA's are claims that they can be biased against non-union contractors and can cause signatory contractors expensive problems. According this view, non-union contractors may be discouraged from bidding projects, because wage rates may be set higher, union work rules, and requirements may be more costly, jurisdictional disputes between unions may cause time consuming work stoppages and disruption, and contractors may not be able to use their own workers, since hiring may only be done through the union hall. Thus, overall, the claim is that PLA's are anti-competitive and end up more costing more.

LABOR MANAGEMENT THEORIES/RESEARCH

Labor Management Relations in the U.S. has been the subject of numerous studies and efforts to propose explanatory theories. Probably the biggest change in the research occurred in the mid 1980's when it became evident that the model of industrial relations based on the New Deal legislation and conditions of the 1930's and 1940's was no longer applicable. That model assumed labor and management interests to be inherently in conflict and oppositional. As such, the model can be characterized as "zero sum" since the assumption is one of opposing interests, that any gain made by one side is the other side's loss.

Whatever the flaws in the model and its assumptions, these were viewed less critically as long as the

economic pie was growing and companies could pass on the cost of wage increases and benefits to consumers in the form of higher prices. The model's viability increasingly came into question as plant closings and layoffs increased and U.S. market share shrunk in major industries such auto, steel, and textiles. It became clear that a new model that linked the fortunes of both sides was needed.

The "new" model focuses on the logic of "win-win." In other words, the assumption is that it is possible to create labor management relationships in which there are mutual gains and benefits and where both sides find common ground. For example, an area of shared concern is workforce development, education, and training. The availability of a highly skilled workforce is a major concern of potential investors and existing employers. Management depends on this workforce to produce the highest quality products and services and to do so efficiently with a continuous eye toward innovation and invention. Labor has increasingly made workforce preparedness its central claim in advancing the advantages of having unionized workforce.

In any case, there is a recognition that raising the skills and preparedness of the workforce cannot be left to chance. It cannot be fully realized by any one group by themselves. It requires the regional and local commitment from labor and management to work together to ensure a steady flow of skilled workers in the pipeline who are ready and motivated to take on increasingly complex projects. This begins with stable families and communities where schools -- from elementary to at least the community college level -- are developing educational programs and using the latest techniques. It also depends on local apprenticeship programs, libraries, and research institutions to ensure that knowledge and skills are cutting edge and support innovation in engineering, architecture, and project management- all of which help to produce a world class workforce.

LEVELS OF COOPERATION

STRATEGIC

PLA's have a key role at the strategic level of cooperative labor management relationships. They have been identified as a critical part of construction projects because connections must be made among a variety of stakeholders who may have different roles, functions and tasks in a large or complex construction project. For example, there are owners, contractors, subcontractors, union officers or international representatives, suppliers, vendors, and others all who in the past have made unilateral decisions based on independent interests. However, PLA's offer an alternative approach in which there are ongoing benefits from an awareness of the bigger picture of project planning. Like a road map, PLA's provide an opportunity for key players to understand strategically the paths they will be expected to follow and how they may intersect with others, the different stages of project completion and the sequences of events. Strategic planning helps to avoid major problems and mistakes and to make necessary adjustments. The result of joint strategies is the opportunity to develop a shared vision in which mutual interests and benefits may be more clearly seen.

COLLECTIVE BARGAINING

At the level at which collective bargaining takes place, there is an opportunity to transcend traditional adversarial approaches and to emphasize the importance of interest- based bargaining. Interest-based bargaining focuses on areas where interests overlap and are mutually beneficial, as opposed to the traditional approach where bargaining is positional and competitive. Research indicates that jockeying for position is likely to cause distrust and rivalry. Under such conditions, interests are narrow and instrumental, negotiations are contentious and antagonistic.

PLAS AND TRIPARTITE APPROACH MODEL

There is less willingness to find compromise and accommodation -- even if it might be of mutual benefit. Interest-based bargaining is focused on identifying common interests from the outset which can make it easier to come to agreement when the goal is to expand those areas where both sides find common ground.



WORKSITE

Research suggests that the zero-sum model of labor management relations is rooted in organizational arrangements such as hierarchy and bureaucracy, which sharply separates the roles and functions of management from those of the rank and file worker. Such arrangements translate into a tendency toward the centralization of information, highly individualized or compartmentalized behavior, and a focus on discipline, obedience, and conformity. In other words, under such conditions, CYA (cover your ass) prevails. In such a work environment, it becomes more likely that participants have an "us versus them" view of labor management relations. Once that common understanding of work is established it is hard to change.

In contrast, cooperative relationships are ones in which information is shared on a daily basis because formal

roles and titles are relaxed. Open communication is encouraged and the work progresses based on group collaboration. There is greater honesty and trust, and less likelihood of debilitating jurisdictional of contractual issues erupting. Problems are addressed more effectively and efficiently. There is greater adaptability and flexibility. It is easier to make needed changes because there is greater agreement about how the work is going to be done on an ongoing basis and tough decisions can be made.

PLA's are based on a cooperative model of labor management relations. When properly structured they have the advantage of keeping everyone on the same page and keeping different groups working together instead of against each other.

TRUST

There is no doubt that informal and personal relationships are the everyday "grease" that allows cooperative labor management relations to move forward. Respect, integrity, honesty, dependability, and trust are still the building blocks of ongoing efforts to create "win-win" outcomes. At every turn, labor and management representatives as well as public officials, members of school boards and city councils, ask themselves if they can trust the other side in PLA negotiations. Those who have established a reputation for "fair play" and as a "straight shooter," are invaluable to the process. That is what leadership on PLAs is all about. People are being asked to take risks, and they want to feel assured that they are not going to get "burned."

What is required are a series of "pre-job" meetings to foster effective communication, shared information, and a high degree of transparency to make sure that all the parties are informed and reassured about contractual issues and obligations. There needs to be an opportunity to express doubts and opposing

views. When participants have such an opportunity to express their views they are more likely come to terms, even if there hasn't been 100% agreement. Even if agreements can be achieved, each side is expecting the other to "deliver." This means that every day, expectations must be communicated along with snags, bumps, miscalculations, and mistakes.

Critical to these relationships, particularly in the construction industry where projects are temporary, is distinguishing between short and long term goals and interests. Each party is tempted to insure that short term and individual interests are met. Typically, there is enormous pressure from constituents and higher level players to secure immediate gains. It is often difficult to persuade the other side of the long term benefits of specific proposals, which may mean getting less in the short term.

This is especially true on cornerstone cooperative issues like quality -- which can easily take a back seat to productivity. Very often a quality job takes longer and more resources. Doing things right the first time may not always win out even though it may save time and money in the long run.

Similarly, there is a temptation to deploy a workforce that may lack the required skills or pre-job information that is necessary to produce quality results. This underlines the need for ongoing training, education, and pre-job planning, which may not translate into results for weeks, months, or perhaps years down the line. This certainly applies to safety issues where taking the time and expense to commit to the value of safety, helps to reduce injuries, suffering and fatalities as well as down time, insurance costs, and lawsuits. Thus, trust often requires long term commitments to quality, training, and safety. The short term can be much less problematic when all parties work together to build a better future.

TRIPARTITE AGREEMENT/APPROACH

The term "tripartite" is used to define a trilateral or three-way approach, among owners, contractors, and unions, to organizing a construction project by first agreeing on the terms of working together collaboratively specifically stated in PLAs. Trilateral indicates a move from vertical, hierarchical relationships to more team-based horizontal ones.

The hallmark of such agreements is a high level of cooperation and collaboration among the three parties, especially labor and management. The concept includes planning, teamwork, implementation, and execution of mutual project goals and objectives. There is recognition that the tripartite model promotes increased communication and coordination central to the way things get done right. Such arrangements have been shown to improve quality, safety, productivity, and on-time cost savings, particularly on large complex projects with the required pride and professionalism of the working professional, but most of all, it insures trust and open lines of communications between all tripartite partners and at the end of the day, it is a mutual success story for all parties involved. Tripartite Agreement/Approach is very effective when used in coordination with PLAs to ensure everyone is working in good faith and has the best interests of all stakeholders as a top priority in completing the construction project on-time and within budget.

THE PLA AND TRIPARTITE CHALLENGE

Like any effort to make systematic work-site changes, there is little doubt that implementing a PLA and using a Tripartite Approach requires a significant top level commitment. It means that labor and management leaders make fewer unilateral decisions and that they take a collaborative approach. This can be hard to do

especially when there is limited experience with labor management cooperation and PLAs. The failure of PLAs is often attributed to a lack of joint planning, preparation, and training at every level of project management.

Yet the benefits of doing PLAs right appear to be well worth this level of commitment and effort. Evidence suggests that such projects yield higher quality results, are cost effective, have lower accident rates, and set higher standards for those who wish to be successful in the construction industry.

PROJECT CHARACTERISTICS AND RESEARCH FINDINGS

As described in the chart below, the research highlighted six construction projects representing national and local contractors, billions of dollars of investment, millions of site work hours completed, and thousands of skilled labor:

| | | | | _ |
|--|---|-----------------------|-----------------------------------|---|
| CONSTRUCTION CASE STUDY PROJECTS | PRIME CONTRACTOR(S) | PROJECT INVESTMENT | SITE WORK HOURS Completed | LABOR FORCE |
| Prairie State Generating Company | Bechtel Power Corp. | \$4+ Billion Dollars | 24 Million Site Work Hours | Over 4,000 Skilled Labor |
| Phillips 66 Refinery | Bechtel Oil, Gas, & Chemicals, Inc. Cherne Contracting Corp URS (Washington Division) Fluor Daniel Illinois, Inc. | \$3.8 Billion Dollars | 22 Million Site Work Hours | Over 4,600 Skilled Labor |
| Abengoa BioEngery Company Ethanol Plant | Alberici Constructors | \$74 Million Dollars | 700,000 Site Work Hours | Over 800 Skilled Labor |
| Edwardsville School District | Multiple Contractors over 8 projects managed by Superintendent directly | \$68 Million Dollars | N/A | Hundreds of Skilled Labor Worked on Multiple Projects |
| SIUE Success Center Project | Bruce Unterbrink Construction | \$11 Million Dollars | Approx. 99,000 Site Work Hours | Approx. 100 Skilled Labor |
| West Washington School District | Holland Construction Services | \$29 Million Dollars | 165,798 Site Work Hours | Over 100 Skilled Labor |

Each of the full construction case studies are listed on the Southwestern Illinois Building Trades Council Web Site (swilbuildingtrades.com) and included as attachments.

CHALLENGES

The case studies of construction projects in Southwestern Illinois present strong evidence that the model of labor management cooperation as demonstrated in the use of Project Labor and Tripartite Agreements, can be highly effective and mutually beneficial. However, enormous challenges lie ahead. These joint strategies, practices, and procedures are only as strong as the participants who develop and implement them. Since the traditional and dominant approach to labor management relations remain adversarial, the leadership on both sides is likely to be less experienced with and less practiced in the "art" of cooperative efforts. This was clear in virtually every one of the cases presented here. For example, although PLA's have a history that can be traced back to the early part of the 20th century, data based on interviews with major project participants suggests that today most project managers know little about this history and have had limited experience with PLA implementation in their careers in the construction industry. In fact, most had serious misgivings given the widespread skepticism about PLA's and the atmosphere of distrust that has been the emblem of American labor relations. This lack of understanding and awareness, and the misleading assumptions regarding a cooperative approach, has served as formidable barriers to forging a commitment to change.

In the past, contractors were likely to believe that they would lose control of projects over key decisions regarding the workforce. They raised tough questions about costs and quality. But at Prairie State, for example, two years into the project when owners and contractors sought to raise such standards to a higher level, their labor counterparts were ready to listen and to join in the effort to help cut costs and improve quality. Thus when projects are so complex, involve so many workers and trades, and are filled with great uncertainty, contractors learned that they

can achieve their goals much more effectively by coordinating their efforts and relying on labor to fulfill their expanded roles. This was true at Philips 66 where several large contractors had little experience with having to coordinate their management of projects with other large contractors, and in particular, they had to share a virtual army of skilled workers each of who needed to understand their role in completing their assigned tasks. Project managers learned how important meetings with their labor counterparts were in assuring certainty, efficiency, and quality results. At public projects, contractors needed to gain the trust of the community in tandem with school administrators. None of this could be done unilaterally.

Labor had to learn to work with contractors and administrators to assure the quality and readiness of the workforce and to be committed to completing projects at or under budget. Across the cases presented, one strong labor leader stepped up to persuade locals to urge their members to address contractor concerns, and to become more aware of budget, scheduling, quality, and safety issues. This was especially true with regard to jurisdictional matters. There was a strong recognition that jurisdictional disputes were simply counterproductive. Settling these differences quickly and satisfactorily became more likely as unions felt compelled to join ranks to reduce any disruptions and maintain on-going schedules. This became part of the "standard of excellence" that many unions have set for themselves.

These cases suggest that labor management cooperation is extremely hard to do. It's much easier for leaders to revert back to past behaviors. That is, to be the toughest guy on the block and show your rank and file, if you are a labor leader, that you are fighting for "more" in every possible way. For management, it often means showing owners, investors, and upper management officials that you are not "caving in" to labor demands. Committing to an alternative

strategy based on a cooperative model is a serious, if not a fundamental change in the way construction projects are done. Yet, the traditional roles of labor and management rooted in the adversarial approach are no longer tenable. Labor and management do not forego their respective differences, so much as they recognize that their interests are better served when they work together instead of against each other. It requires leadership that is non-traditional - a leadership that empowers participants, shares information, and fosters communication and trust. It is a learning process, an evolution, more of an "art" than a hard and fast role or set protocol. Leaders in these cases had to continuously communicate and persuade others, take risks, and establish a culture of honesty, integrity, and trust.

The challenge for the future is to support labor management leaders who have the courage and foresight to change and to create change.

KEY HIGHLIGHTS OF PLAS AND TRIPARTITE AGREEMENT/APPROACH

After 30+ years of addressing and solving local construction issues, the SWIL Labor Management Committee can see a significant return for its work over the years. As the case studies certainly demonstrate, each of the six construction projects highlighted in this research provides strong evidence that working collaboratively as a team really is the key to successful construction projects. For each of these important regional construction case studies, Project Labor Agreements (PLAs) and the Tripartite Agreement/Approach was used to create a positive work environment that sets the stage for mutually addressing issues and completing the projects within budget and on schedule with excellent safety records. The Southwestern Illinois Building Trades Council Executive Secretary Dale Stewart was mentioned in all of the cases as being a key part of developing relationships between contractors, owners, and labor

based on trust; willingness for labor and management to work together; selecting the right people with the right attitudes for key project positions; creating a positive work environment based on teamwork; opening lines of communications and problem solving; and focusing on safety and consistent training resulting in the strong regional foundation for which these construction projects were built upon.

TRUST, TEAMWORK, POSITIVE WORK ENVIRONMENT, PROBLEM SOLVING, AND OPEN COMMUNICATIONS

Trust and willingness to work together were key repeating attributes throughout each of the six construction projects that created teamwork. positive work environment, problem solving, and open communications. Use of PLAs and the Tripartite Approach build a strong sense of mutual trust and respect among all project stakeholders. In the Edwardsville School District case, Dr. Ed Hightower, Superintendent, illustrated how demands were transformed into compromises, anger and frustration were voiced "behind closed doors" but because all the major parties had a chance to voice their serious concerns, trust and communication were forged in the long term relationships. Dale Stewart and Dr. Hightower worked together to help complete these projects at budget and on schedule, with few of the problems and distractions that were so evident at an earlier time. Dr. Hightower stated, "It was a "win-win" for labor and management and a proud accomplishment for the entire community. So strong was the trust and good feelings that these successes spawned, that smaller projects- maintenance buildings, booths for the athletic stadium, and storage facilities, were all done with volunteers including union members who donated their time and effort, reducing costs and allowing the school district to advance its ambitious plan further. Just a few years earlier, few people could have imagined that such things were possible. It appears as if the Edwardsville School District built more than new buildings."

According to Dale Stewart, "We worked extremely hard as a team to overcome any challenges and promote an atmosphere of trust and collaboration. It was clear from the start that open communication and working through tough issues would create a sense of community faith in the projects and overall pride that everyone was working to make the right decisions for the school district and children." The "shared vision" that gave birth to improved and cooperative labor-management relations has flourished and the community has learned important lessons for the future. It was clear that PLAs and Tripartite Approach to conducting meetings made a significant difference in how the school district and community viewed construction projects and the role of skilled labor that is a unique model for future construction projects. (Business Case 4)

The same sentiments of trust and open communications was mentioned by the Phillips 66 Senior Project Engineer Larry Sicking on the Mega-Project consisting of \$3.8 Billion dollars of investment and 22 million site work hours completed on the refinery expansion and upgrading. Sicking stated, "We had a very good relationship with all of key construction stakeholder groups; including union labor, contractors, and WRR Construction Management team; on this project and we continue to build those long-term relationships of trust and communications. As this project clearly documents, these types of working relationships really do payoff in terms of completing this mega project on-time and within budget. We learned a lot along the way that will help Phillips 66 on future projects." The Phillips 66 case further illustrates the importance of trust and willingness to work together as key foundational attributes to overcome project challenges that in the past might have created costly delays and the workforce challenges. The case demonstrates why

taking the time to set up the project correctly with the right people and right planning is well worth the time and effort. (Business Case 2)

At Prairie State Energy Generating Company, Michael P. Rother, Corporate Director of Industrial Relations and Security, and a central participant in the project's construction from the beginning as PSGC's Manager of Contracts and Industrial Relations, stated, "We needed the certainty of outcome to meet the stringent budget and schedule constraints of our challenging \$4 plus billion dollar project and that certainty drew us to the selection of Bechtel and the union working professionals who represented the Southwestern Illinois Building and Construction Trades. To date, over five years later, our selection of the union craft has proven to be, without a doubt, a complete success story and every craft worker involved should be proud to have their footprint of success on our historic and celebrated project." He further explained, "The tripartite group knew the essential goal was to 'get the work done right the first time, on time and on budget but most importantly, in a safe and productive manner." Rother, referred to the many achieved major project milestones to underline a key safety high point: "With all craft workers empowered by Bechtel and Prairie State to implement, and consistently drive towards a 'zero- accident performance' goal, the tripartite team succeeded in achieving 5.3MM safe hours without a lost time incident at the peak of our project." As one of North America's largest construction projects, this case emphasizes how skilled labor, contractors, and owners all working together collaboratively was the key to this project's success of being on-schedule, within budget, and with an outstanding safety record. (Business Case 1)

"With several other large projects under construction at the same time, we worked very closely with Alberici to ensure all aspects of the project was maintained at the highest levels, such as safety standards and quality workforce."

- Dale Stewart, SWIBTC

According to LeRoy Stromberg, Alberici COO, stated, "Alberici worked with Dale Stewart early in the pre-job planning stage agreeing to use PLAs and Tripartite Agreements as a mechanism to ensure no work stoppages and setting the stage for working together on the Abengoa Bio-Energy Ethanol Plant." Alberici has worked with these agreements extensively in the past successfully and wanted to get this project off to a strong foundation from the beginning. Stromberg indicated, "this is a great way in this region to get people to work together from the start on a large project like this one with a tight timelines and the no strike assurance helps us to establish confident project timelines." Labor leader Dale Stewart underlines this point when he states, "With several other large projects under construction at the same time, we worked very closely with Alberici to ensure all aspects of the project was maintained at the highest levels, such as safety standards and quality workforce. We made sure any concerns were addressed and resolved immediately enabling the project to be completed on time and within budget." Additionally, Alberici expressed how Tripartite Agreements encourages everyone to be at the table for the key decisions on the project and this was something that Abengoa BioEnergy was not as familiar with in their past projects, so this was a completely new type of management tool for them.

in-budget. We have an excellent relationship with the trade unions and have been working with them for years. The trades bring a level of performance consistency and quality of work that helps us to achieve our project goals. We work all over the country and struggle to find the quality of people we see here in our regional area. It would be great if all construction trades were trained to this level with this type of performance across the US."

- LeRoy Stromberg, Alberici

One of Alberici's greatest project accomplishments was the ability to implement an effective schedule recovery effort because of the agreements with labor. Engineering delays, owner-initiated scope changes, and late equipment deliveries negatively impacted the project schedule. Despite these challenges, the client remained committed to the original delivery date. All of these efforts drove the project to an on-time



completion with a good safety and project quality record. Stromberg indicated, "this project was on-time and in-budget. We have an excellent relationship with the trade unions and have been working with them for years. The trades bring a level of performance consistency and quality of work that helps us to achieve our project goals. We work all over the country and struggle to find the quality of people we see here in our regional area. It would be great if all construction trades were trained to this level with this type of performance across the US." As a national contractor, Stromberg's comments emphasize the level of training excellent and focus on safety that have emerged as a key aspects of this unique construction process developed in Southwestern Illinois.

In other areas of the country, Alberici staffs up its team to supervise construction workers and nonunion people to ensure the same quality, safety, and performance levels. Stromberg believes labor management harmony speaks for itself bringing a level of trust, respect, and communications that is hard to find in other parts of the country. The Tripartite monthly meetings bring the right people with the right authority to the table to make key decisions keeping the project on time and in budget. Stromberg said in closing comments, "We feel our relationships with labor enables us to work together to do a great job on our projects and accomplish our goals for our clients." This point further suggests how unique this approach is in comparison to construction projects around the U.S. It also illustrates how enabling this approach might be to other construction projects around the world as future model to aspire to in terms of a key project management tool to be learned, applied, and studied further. (Business Case 3)

According to the Holland Construction team on the West Washington County School District #10 K-12 School Project, "Dale Stewart strongly encouraged

that the meetings take place regularly given the number of contractors, trades, and the complexity of the project. These meetings helped to create on-going lines of communication and to address unanticipated problems as they emerged." Early in the project, demolition and site preparation had to be done while school was in session. This meant that safety measures must be maintained at the highest levels and this required a lot of communications and coordination among all project stakeholders. The Holland Construction team indicated that problems like these might have caused costly setbacks and delays in the project's completion in the past. However, the PLA structure and continuous pre-job and on-site meetings involving key stakeholders helped to overcome these types of problems efficiently and effectively. This might not have been the case in the 80's and 90's. when the traditional adversarial approach to labormanagement relations meant that working together and solving problems cooperatively was not a priority.

In this regard, according to Jim Niemeyer, Holland's Field Site Superintendent, "it's getting a lot better." He also emphasized in the past differences between the trades might have disrupted work and caused delays. Niemeyer stated, "Now it's better because there is far more unity in the trades" - referring to efforts to iron out differences before they might create contentious issues given how work can often overlap traditional jurisdictional lines. Dale Stewart indicated, "With the use of PLAs and Tripartite agreements, job monthly progress meetings address any project concerns or challenges immediately because owners, contractors, and labor representatives feels so comfortable communicating concerns and resolving any challenges promptly. These meetings focus all of the key stakeholders on the value each group brings to the construction process in completing the project on-time and within the budget at the highest level of performance quality, safety, and owner satisfaction."

"Much of the credit was attributed to a positive work environment and the high levels of communication and collaboration on the job."

- Jim Niemeyer, Holland Construction

Niemeyer further states, "The project was completed April 2013 and came in on-time and in-budget with a zero accident rate. By all accounts, though there was a tight schedule to ensure a smooth transition into the school year, the project was a resounding success! Much of the credit was attributed to a positive work environment and the high levels of communication and collaboration on the job." Niemeyer also stated, "It was a joy to work at the school." He emphasized the good feelings and on-site positive work environment that was created as the project progressed. Clearly the work environment has changed significantly over the past 30 years demonstrating more collaboration, open communications, problem resolution, and stakeholder engagement. (Business Case 6)

On the SIUE Student Success Center project, Bruce Unterbrink indicated, "To make up for the challenge to the project timeline [due to delays caused in the demolition and asbestos removal process], contractors and labor representatives agreed to work together to ensure the project would be completed on the set completion deadline. This required working overtime to make sure the project was completed on time for the University to use this new building by the beginning on the Fall Semester." Having open communications and weekly (sometimes daily) meetings to troubleshoot any issues was critical to keep everyone on the same page and working together as a team. Project labor agreements were signed at the beginning of the project and served as a medium for working together in a cost effective manner. The overall work environment was good. Everyone followed the safety rules, so there were no safety issues. Bruce

Unterbrink stated, "Like I said previously due to the delays everyone pitched in, added extra workers, and worked overtime to complete this project on time and with great quality in workmanship. This is something to be proud of!" This project further demonstrates the key attributes of the PLA and Tripartite Approach of teamwork, safety, resolving challenges, and maintaining high quality work. (Business Case 5)

"Everyone pitched in, added extra workers, and worked overtime to complete this project on time and with great quality in workmanship. This is something to be proud of!"

- Bruce Unterbrink, Unterbrink Construction

As stated in their own words, the six case study participants did not hesitate to emphasize how PLAs and the Tripartite Approach to construction project meeting added significant value and created a unique model for completing small, medium, and large projects on-time, within budget, and with excellent safety records.



FOCUS ON SAFETY AND CONSISTENT TRAINING

The SWIL Labor Management Committee and Southwestern Illinois Building Trades Council (SWIBTC) focused on building a strong sense of

safety and consistent training into every aspect of the construction project management process. As the case studies have emphasized, these important standards of success are mentioned prominently as key areas of focus and attainment. For example in the Phillips 66 Refinery project, the Phillips 66 management had a significant influence over safety performance by setting clear expectations and providing the necessary support and resources. Leadership's support of the safety program at all levels in the organization improved performance. Management's commitment to execute the project without interruption provided a competitive advantage as other mega-projects experienced slowdowns or cash flow constraints during project execution. The Project Management effectively engaged key stakeholders in key scope decisions during Steering Committee meetings using the Tripartite approach and having very strong working relationships between union trades, contractors, and owners.

Larry Sicking, Phillips 66 Senior Project Engineer, stated, "We learned quickly how impactful meetings were using a true tripartite approach to the overall success of our project. We openly discussed real problems and proactively solved those problems without blaming each other. It was critical to have the Business Managers, Contractors, and the Phillips 66 leadership involved to overcome any project challenges on such a large construction project." The Wood River Refinery (WRR) CORE Construction Management Team stated that the Tripartite approach provided a strong foundation of cooperation, trust, safety, and productivity. This led to the creation of an overall positive work environment where WRR CORE Construction Management kept the focus on safety for all workers, which resulted in building a stronger team effort across all stakeholder groups because everyone was looking out for each other.

"The areas achieving the best safety performance had excellent craft engagement and were able to win the "hearts and minds" of the crafts. The proper balance of positive recognition and personal accountability to follow safety procedures also proved important to success in safety."

- Larry Sicking, Phillips 66

Safety performance during project execution was above the targets and good in comparison to other mega-projects. According to Larry Sicking, "The areas achieving the best safety performance had excellent craft engagement and were able to win the "hearts and minds" of the crafts. The proper balance of positive recognition and personal accountability to follow safety procedures also proved important to success in safety." (Business Case 2)

Once again this emphasis on safety and training was mentioned in the Prairie State Energy Campus case, Bechtel worked very closely with the SWIBTC members in getting the working professionals engaged in the decision making process with regard to safety, quality control and meeting schedule deadlines-the end result was a tripartite success. Michael P. Rother said, "You could see the growing pride in what we were doing here. The union working professionals had a sense of ownership, wore PSGC hats and tee shirts implying, 'we were part of this historic project and proud of it." Also, to help accomplish the task of meeting the demand of qualified welders and tackle the large number of critical and specialized welds on the project, Bechtel and the United Association implemented a 16 week welding school as well as installed on-site UA training facilities particularly to meet quality standards on complex welding.

"It was the Boilermakers commitment to excellence and their "do it right the first time attitude" that allowed the Boilermaker welders to achieve this awesome quality performance..."

> - Michael P. Rother, Prairie State Energy Campus

Rother continued to emphasize the importance of the quality of the work when he pointed out that, "The UA Welders performed at the top of their game, by making over 35,000 pipe welds with a less than 2% weld reject rate. This extremely low reject rate on the critical welds x-rayed is a remarkable achievement." Rother further stated. "It was the Boilermakers commitment to excellence and their "do it right the first time attitude" that allowed the Boilermaker welders to achieve this awesome quality performancewith 70.000 field welds made and no "Field Weld" Leaks. This outstanding performance and the fact that the overall Boilermaker welder low rejection rate for the project was 1.15%, is simply remarkable, and a true testament of the skills and character of the Boilermaker craft." It is from this level of commitment by all stakeholders that enabled these large projects to reach the highest levels of safety excellence and training consistency. (Business Case 1)

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the six business case studies demonstrate how the PLA and Tripartite Agreement/Approach project management process is a unique model that has emerged based on 30+ years dedication by the SWIL Labor Management Committee and the Southwestern Illinois Building Trades Council. After 30+ years of addressing and solving local construction issues, the SWIL Labor Management Committee can see a significant return for its work over the years. As the case studies certainly demonstrate, each of the six construction projects highlighted in this research provides strong evidence that working collaboratively as a team really is the key to successful construction projects. For each of these important regional construction case studies, Project Labor Agreements and the Tripartite Agreement/Approach was used to create a positive work environment that sets the stage for jointly address issues and completing the projects within budget and on schedule. This model was the critical factor in developing relationships between contractors, owners, and labor based on trust; willingness for labor and management to work together; selecting the right people with the right attitudes for key project positions; creating a positive work environment based on teamwork; opening lines of communications and problem solving; and focusing on safety and consistent training resulting in the strong regional foundation for which these construction projects were built upon. This a significant model in achieving project objectives that are on schedule, within budget, and a focus on maintaining highest levels of project safety. Key research findings are as follows:

- All six cases reported highly positive results and mutual benefits from engaging in cooperative labor management agreements and practices for stakeholder groups - owners, contractors, and labor.
- The use of PLAs and related Tripartite arrangements resulted in significant cost savings, improved quality, greater productivity, and higher levels of safety.
- There was no evidence to suggest that PLAs contribute to higher costs and reduced competition. To the
 contrary, successful PLAs tend to produce both short-term and long term cost savings. All six projects
 were completed on-time and within the projects budget.
- Cooperative agreements, such as PLAs and the Tripartite model, can increase communication, trust, respect, and collaboration among all parties, and encourage swift problems solving, innovation, and flexibility.
- Positive results may be attributed to an informed and committed labor management leadership who
 were able to successfully resist an adversarial past to learn, create, and maintain strong cooperative
 relationships.
- Future success of the construction industry in Southwestern Illinois may well hinge on workforce and leadership awareness of cooperative and collaboration agreements and practices. Without increasing workforce and leadership education, training, and support there is a strong likelihood that these efforts will fail.

The conclusions of the study may not be generalized beyond this Southwestern Illinois because of its unique history and local conditions. However there is little doubt that these practices could be replicated elsewhere, leading to the same positive results.

RECOMMENDATIONS AND NEXT STEPS

- Increase resources and efforts to promote awareness and understanding of labor management cooperation in Southwestern Illinois by promoting use of Project Labor Agreements and the Tripartite Approach/Model in projects at a regional and national level through strong marketing and communications efforts
- 2. Develop and implement new training and educational programs that focus on cooperative and collaborative practices, PLAs and Tripartite arrangements or integrate these elements into existing programs.
- 3. Plan and organize conferences, seminars, and workshops that focus all aspects of labor management cooperation in the region.
- 4. Identify organizations and projects that might provide examples of on-site "best practices" that could be learned from and shared throughout the region and national organizations.
- 5. Identify, recognize, and support individuals who are actively involved in promoting labor management cooperation in the region.
- 6. Post and promote this applied research information and solid "best forward thinking" business case studies regarding labor management cooperation, so it is easy to access for anyone seeking "best thinking" models for success. Continue to build a compendium of case studies and information to inform and advance use of this PLAs and Tripartite Approach Model.
- 7. With an eye on the future, it will important to develop a strategy to address several major issues facing both labor and management construction industry moving forward:
 - **A.** Encourage and support more vocational and STEM education programs for students starting at an early age and continued through the community college system for older students. This would include promoting construction trades as a strong professional career option to students and their parents with an emphasis on further workforce development efforts thus attracting "new blood" into the industry.
 - B. Both labor and management should continue to update its respective technology skills as this industry segment grows more complex. For example, it will be important for labor to continue to update their members technical skills. This type of updating technological skills can also been seen in 3D modeling usage and competencies for contractors, engineers, and other key stakeholder groups.

NOTE: See Fred B. Kotler, "Project Labor Agreements in New York II: In the Public Interest and of Proven Value, Research Studies and Reports", Paper 36, Cornell University (2011) for an extensive, in depth reporting of many of the key elements presented here.